LATE - see letter dated 11/6/19 motion for extension of time due 11/13/19

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/6/2019 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/6/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 51827-9-II

97830-1

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

LISA SAMUELS, Plaintiff/Appellant/Petitioner

V.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, GLORIA LEM, CITY OF TACOMA Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

By:

F. Hunter MacDonald, WSBA #22857 of FIFE LAW, P.S. Attorneys for Appellant, Lesa Samuels Post Office Box 1761 Tacoma, WA 98401 (206) 280-0079

I.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court and the majority of the Court of Appeals panel contravene Supreme Court precedent in affirming the trial court determination that there were no triable issues of fact concerning the gross negligence of the City of Tacoma's EMTs and paramedics and granting summary judgment dismissal of Samuels' claims on that basis?
- 2. Did the trial court and the entirety of the Court of Appeals panel err in affirming the trial court determination that there were no triable issues of fact regarding whether the City of Tacoma's paramedics / EMTs were entitled to qualified immunity under RCW 18.71.210, thus presenting a gross negligence standard rather than an ordinary negligence standard, and granting summary judgment dismissal of Samuels' claims on that basis?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The following testimony and evidence was considered at summary judgment and by the Court of Appeals:

Background - On December 24, 2015, a five member team from the Tacoma Fire Department, (the City of Tacoma), responded to a 911 report that Lesa Samuels believed she was having a stroke. CP 568-69 and 607. According to the testimony of Lesa Samuels and Arnold Williams, the responders did not tell Samuels what was causing her symptoms but that she was "not having a stroke." See "Facts" section, infra. As a result, Samuels declined the first responders' offer to transport her to the hospital. *Id*.

Twelve days later on January 5, 2016, Ms. Samuels self-reported to Tacoma General Hospital where it was determined that she had, indeed, suffered a recent stroke. CP 6, 143-45, 167, 708, and 735. Specifically, she suffered a "posterior circulation stroke ... in the left midbrain probably secondary to vertebral artery dissection." CP 6 and 143-45.

Ms. Samuels' stroke expert, Dr. Lombardi, testified that Samuels likely suffered an initial stroke event on December 24, 2015, the stroke event would very likely have been correctly diagnosed on that day if Samuels had been taken to an emergency room, and that treatment would have very likely begun immediately. CP 143-47.

Events of 12/24/15 - On December 24, 2015, Arnold Williams and Lesa Samuels were at home in their apartment in Tacoma. CP 710 - 13. Ms. Samuels had started feeling a squeezing headache in the week prior to December 24, 2015. CP 710.

On December 24, 2015, Ms. Samuels worked a 10:30 a.m. to 6:30 p.m. shift at a retirement home while experiencing such a headache. CP 711-12 and 745. After work, Ms. Samuels returned home, had dinner, watched a little television, and talked to Mr. Williams. CP 711 - 12 and 745. Around 10:00 p.m., Ms. Samuels took a shower. CP 711 and 745.

As she was shampooing her hair, Ms. Samuels felt a rush of dizziness. CP 712. Ms. Samuels got dizzy and fell back into one wall of the shower and then tried to wash off, but fell back again into the other wall of the shower. CP 712. Ms. Samuels tried to yell for help, but her throat closed up on her right side. CP 712. Ms. Samuels was also having trouble swallowing. CP 713. Ms. Samuels got out of the shower, went to her room, and laid down. CP 713 and 724.

As Ms. Samuels lay on her bed, her squeezing headache turned into a piercing pain in her right temple. CP 713. A few minutes later, numbness started in her face and spread to her right arm. CP 713.

Ms. Samuels got the attention of Mr. Williams who found her in the bedroom. CP 713. Mr. Williams asked if she was all right. CP 713. Ms. Samuels said her head hurt. CP 713. Mr. Williams asked Ms. Samuels if he should call 911. CP 713. Ms. Samuels responded "no" because she thought the pain would subside. CP 713.

After about 15 minutes, Ms. Samuels got up and went to the bathroom to look in the mirror. CP 713. By that time, her piercing headache had subsided to a squeezing headache, but numbness persisted on the right side of her face and in her right arm. CP 714.

When Ms. Samuels looked in the mirror, her face looked droopy, with her mouth and eye being turned down. CP 714. Ms. Samuels exited and asked Mr. Williams to call 911, telling him, "I think I'm having a stroke."

CP 714. Mr. Williams called 911 and told the 911 operator he thought Ms. Samuels was having a stroke. CP 714 and 747.

Ms. Samuels moved into the living room to wait for the Tacoma Fire Department, ("TFD"), to arrive. CP 726. While she was waiting, Ms. Samuels attempted to call her son on the telephone, reaching only his girlfriend, who could not understand what Ms. Samuels was saying and hung up. CP 715.

Within minutes of 911 being called, TFD responders arrived at Williams' and Samuels' apartment. CP 537 and 713. The TFD's event history lists EMT Lt. William Jones, EMTs Nate Kaiel and Benjamin Baker, and paramedics Kristopher Johnson and Anthony Brakebush as the responders. CP 537, 603, and 614.

One of the responders knelt down on the floor on the other side of couch arm from where Samuels was sitting and took Samuels' vital signs, blood pressure, and glucose. CP 726-28.

Ms. Samuels' blood pressure was 176/98, CP 535, just under the 180 systolic blood pressure level for which the 2012 Pierce County EMS Protocols, (the "Protocols"), mandate an advanced life support transport to a hospital. CP 544.

¹ A paramedic is one level above an EMT and obtains an additional certification. CP 644.

While one responder took Samuels' vital signs, blood pressure, and glucose, another responder asked Ms. Samuels questions and examined her. CP 726-27.

The examining responder looked in Ms. Samuels' eyes, looked in her throat and did resistance testing, but did not ask Ms. Samuels to smile or make a face. CP 728.

Asking the patient to smile or make a face is part of the "F" or "face" portion of something known as a FAST exam where the Protocols direct responders in assessing stroke risk to "ask the patient to show his or her teeth or smile to see if each side of the face moves as well as the other." CP 542-43, esp CP 543.

One of the responders asked Ms. Samuels her name and what county she lived in, and if she knew why the responders were there. CP 729. Ms. Samuels responded by telling him her name, that she lived in Pierce County, and that: "I think I'm having a stroke." CP 729.

The responder did not ask Ms. Samuels why she thought she was having a stroke. CP 729.

Lt. Jones testified that he asked Ms. Samuels the questions and took notes during the exam but did nto do the exam itself. CP 569-71.

Lt. Jones testified that Ms. Samuels told him she had a headache and her face was numb and pointed to a specific spot on one of her cheeks. CP 535, 571, 582, 683, and 730.

The responders had no explanation as to what was causing the facial numbness. CP 683 and 686. In the words of the highest-ranking paramedic on-scene: "We couldn't explain it." CP 571 and 683. During that same paramedic's deposition, he conceded that facial numbness was known to him to be a potential stroke symptom. CP 686.

Lt. Jones testified that he asked Samuels about what symptoms she was experiencing before the responders showed up, but his computer-generated patient report, while indicating the answers or denials to other questions, does not indicate that he asked any questions concerning whether Samuels had experienced FAST indicators like numbness or weakness of an arm, or leg, trouble speaking or understanding, trouble seeing in one or both eyes, trouble walking, dizziness, loss of balance or coordination, or a severe headache with no known cause or the last time she had been clear of any of those symptoms. CP 535 and 572.

Responders' Knowledge of Stroke Symptoms – Lt. Jones testified that he has been trained that high blood pressure correlates with a segment

² Both paramedic Kristopher Johnson and Fire Lietenant Jones acknowledged that Johnson had seniority and final decision-making authority for any treatment or transport questions. CP 594, 683 and 686.

of the population that has a higher incidence of strokes and he knows that strokes involve oxygen and blood to the brain being blocked or inhibited. CP 573-74 and 582. The other responders testified, in slightly different terms, that this was also their understanding. CP 607, 613, 622, 652, 660, and 698.

Paramedic Anthony Brakebush testified that slurred speech and numbness in the face were potential stroke symptoms as are numbness in one or more extremities or dizziness. CP 652 and 662-63.

EMT Nathaniel Kaiel testified that he understood that facial numbness was a potential stroke symptom and if oxygen is inhibited or blocked from reaching a part of the brain a person can potentially suffer brain damage or die. CP 607, 610, and 613.

Unauthorized Communication of the Misdiagnosis - At the end of the examination of Samuels, the examining responder turned to another of the responders, (Lt. Jones), and said "she's not having a stroke." CP 732-33.

Ms. Samuels then asked: "Well, what's wrong with my face then?" and the responder to which the diagnosis had been directed (Lt. Jones) said: "Your face looks a little off, but you're not having a stroke." CP 732-33.

Lt. Jones then told Ms. Samuels "We could take you to the hospital to ease your mind or (pointing to Mr. Williams) ... he could take [you]." CP 733.

Samuels declined this offer and the responders left. CP 535 and 733.

Ms. Samuels and Mr. Williams both testified that, although the "we could take you to the hospital" statement was made, Mr. Williams did not reply to it and neither Ms. Samuels, nor Mr. Williams, at any point, indicated that Ms. Samuels would be going to the hospital in anyone's private vehicle. CP 732-33.

Ms. Samuels testified she turned down the Fire Department's offer to transport her to the hospital because the responders told her she was not having a stroke and she "...trusted that these guys knew what they were looking at." CP 733-34, (esp. CP 733, Samuels Dep, 116:5-12 and CP 734, Samuels Dep, 118:4-8).

She also denied that the responders recommended that she go get checked out at an ER. CP 734.

Fire Department Parameters – The responders are not authorized under the Protocols to make diagnoses and are bound to the Protocols in terms of the treatment they can offer. CP 644-45 and 676-78.³ The Protocols do not allow responders to diagnose, rule in, or rule out strokes.

³ The 2012 Protocols were still in effect as of 12/24/15. CP 676-77.

CP 575, 577, 580, 653, 680, 685-86, 694, and 697. The responders must, instead, follow state approved triage procedures, regional patient care procedures, and the Protocols, WAC 246-976-182(3), but it is part of the responders' training that trouble speaking, numbness or weakness of the face, body, leg or arm, trouble seeing, trouble with balance, dizziness, coordination, or headaches with no known cause are potential stroke symptoms. CP 627.

The Protocols, themselves, and the testifying responders, refer to a "FAST exam" as their stroke risk assessment tool. CP 541-44, 682, and 686. The FAST exam is the Protocols' screening tool for assessing stroke risk. *Id.*, and CP 643.

Asking the patient to smile or make a face is part of the "F" or "face" portion of the FAST exam where the Protocols direct responders to "ask the patient to show his or her teeth or smile to see if each side of the face moves as well as the other." This step is described at Appendices D-1 and D-2 to the 2012 Protocols. CP 542-43, esp CP 543.

Appendix D-1 to the 2012 Protocols states that the initial step in completing a FAST exam, however, is to get a "[r]eport from patient or bystander of one or more sudden: numbness or weakness of the face, arm, or leg, especially on one side of the body, confusion, trouble speaking or understanding, trouble seeing in one or both eyes, trouble walking,

dizziness, loss of balance or coordination, [or] severe headache with no known cause" and that the "T" in FAST refers to inquiring about the "[t]ime last normal (determine time patient last known normal)." CP 542, 654, 677, and 701.

Appendix D-2 to the 2012 Protocols again emphasizes that the "T" in FAST stands for "time" and indicates that the person performing the FAST exam must "[a]sk the patient, family or bystanders the last time the patient was seen normal." CP 543. See also CP 626, 654, 677, and 701-02.

Transport and Release Procedures – Handwritten and computergenerated reports for the Samuels response were created by Fire Lieutenant William Jones. CP 570, 581, and 683-84.

On the back-side side of the handwritten report is a place for the patient to sign an "ROR" section. CP 576. "ROR" means "release of responsibility." *Id.* and CP 680. A patient is asked to sign the ROR if the responders are terminating care and the patient is intending to follow the responders' advice in terms of getting additional treatment from another source. *Id.* If transportation has been offered but has been turned down, the responders must attempt to have an ROR signed by the patient. CP 619.

The back-side of the handwritten report also contains a place for a patient to sign an "AMA." CP 576 and 680. "AMA" means the patient is acknowledging that his/her refusal of additional services is "against medical advice." *Id.* and CP 573 – 74.

Lt. Jones testified that, upon returning to the fire station following the treatment of Samuels, he shredded this report and, therefore, the only documentary evidence that would possibly have been kept of any advice given to Samuels to follow up at, or be driven to, an emergency room. CP 570 and 577.

Base Station Physicians – The availability of a supervising or "base-station" physician for paramedics and EMTs is mandated by statute. See citations in "Argument" section, *infra*.

The base-station physician's duty under the Protocols is to supervise and confer with responders to provide treatment direction. CP 624, 650, and 678-79. The base-station physician can, if necessary, overrule responders' decisions. CP 624 and 678 - 79.

A base-station physician is available, via telephone or radio on a 24-hour a day basis, 365 days a year, to all paramedics and EMTs employed by, or acting for, the TFD. CP 617, 650, 678-79, and 681.⁴ If a base-

⁴ The emergency responder statutes refer to this doctor as the "supervising physician," but the paramedic testimony in this case refers to that doctor as the "base-station"

station physician is contacted by responders, that communication must be documented in the patient report. CP 577 and 685. There is no documentation of any communication with a base station physician in the Fire Department's patient report. CP 535.

Disputed Testimony Regarding Standard of Care - Ms. Samuels' experts, (medical doctors Brown and Lombardi), concluded that no prearrival FAST exam history of Samuels was taken by the responders and, therefore, the FAST exam attempted by the responders was incomplete. CP 146-47 and 171-75.

Samuels' expert testimony, in sum, is that by failing to obtain a history of what occurred prior to their arrival and to perform the "face" portion of the FAST exam by asking the patient to attempt to smile, the responders skipped steps in the FAST exam and this constituted a breach of the 2012 Protocols. *Id*.

In addition, Samuels' experts testified that the responders' failure to perform these steps rendered the FAST exam incomplete and minimally useful as a stroke risk assessment tool. *Id.* They, therefore, dispute whether the results of the FAST exam could be viewed as "negative" when the FAST exam was incompletely, and therefore incorrectly, performed. CP 144, 146-47 and 171-75.

physician" when describing the person who is available to Tacoma Fire Department paramedics and EMTs. CP 678-81

Ms. Samuels' experts testified that the responders also seriously departed from the Protocols by:

- 1. failing to take a patient history for the items that the FAST exam, (Protocol Appendices D-1 and D-2), explicitly told them to ask about before conducting the physical portion of the FAST exam because, had the responders inquired into what had happened before they arrived and communicated that history to a base-station physician, they would have been told by any competent doctor that there was a high risk of stroke and to transport Ms. Samuels to a hospital immediately. CP 144, 147, 169, and 171-75.
- 2. failing to contact a supervising, aka "base-station," physician when the Protocols did not provide a treatment regimen for Samuels' unresolved stroke symptom, e.g., facial numbness and high blood pressure, CP 143-47 and 171-75,

and

3. that these errors were harmful because termination of care is especially injurious for stroke victims, as is making an unqualified off-the-cuff diagnosis like "you're not having a stroke," because it makes it less likely that the patient will follow up with a qualified medical professional. CP 143-47, 169, and 171-75.

ARGUMENT

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals should be reviewed because it is in conflict with the Supreme Court's *Brainerd*, *Nist*, and *Harper* opinions on gross negligence.

The statute on the qualified immunity otherwise potentially applicable to EMTs and paramedics states it:

... shall not apply to any act or omission which constitutes either gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct. RCW 18.71.210(5).

In Brainerd v. Stearns, 155 Wash. 364, 367, 284 P. 348 (1930), the Supreme Court ruled that:

[Where] [t]he appellant knew, or to him is imputed the knowledge, that the probable consequence of [his/her] conduct would be to cause an accident [s]uch disregard of consequences warrant[s] the jury in finding the appellant guilty of gross negligence. (Emphasis added).

The *Nist* court then found the definition of gross negligence irreducible to any one pat formula but that it should almost always be a jury question:

A review of the commentaries, scholarly treatises and case law on gross negligence shows the term to have universally escaped definition, and [that] despite the most assiduous efforts ... it retains its amorphous quality. What constitutes gross negligence is almost always a jury question. *Nist v. Tudor* 67 Wn.2d 322, 324-25, 407 P.2d 798 (1965).

The standard for gross negligence must nearly always be left to the jury because:

[c]ircumstances surrounding the actors largely determine the quantum of care required in any rule referring to or prescribing standards of care ... *Nist* at 331, cited by *Harper v. State*, 192 Wn2d 328, 341, 429 P3d 1071 (2018).

Likewise, in *Kelley v. State*, 104 Wn. App. 328, 334-35, 17 P.3d 1189 (Div. 2, 2000), it was ruled that a violation of policy directives can be evidence of gross negligence. *Id*. As such, and in light of the fact that evidence of departures from the Protocols was admitted at summary judgment, reasonable minds could differ on whether the paramedics /

EMTs conduct constituted gross negligence. Therefore, under *Brainerd's*, *Nist's*, *Harper's*, *and Kelley's* standards, Ms. Samuels was entitled to have the issue of the EMTs and paramedics' gross negligence decided by a jury and termination of her case was in conflict with Supreme Court precedent because Ms. Samuels' experts testified that the paramedics and EMTs seriously departed from the Protocols by failing to take the patient history mandated by the "T" section of the FAST exam before conducting the rest of it, failing to communicate with a base-station physician when Samuels had unresolved stroke symptoms, and falsely and without being qualified to do so, giving a diagnosis that "you're not having a stroke," CP 731.

The EMTs and paramedics concede that a diagnosis by one of them is not permitted under the Protocols or something any of them are qualified to do, so a jury should have, under the above-mentioned Supreme Court precedents, been allowed to decide whether the EMTs' and paramedics' conduct amounted to gross negligence.

B. The Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed because it will legally define the parameters of care permitted under County Protocols, thus affecting the health, safety and welfare of all citizens.

RCW 18.71.210(2) states that qualified immunity for EMTs and paramedics:

... shall only apply to an act or omission committed or omitted in the performance of ... actual emergency

medical procedures and not in the commission or omission of an act which is **not within the field of medical expertise of the ... emergency medical technician and paramedic**, emergency medical technician, or first responder ... (Emphasis added).

A County Medical Program Director, ("MPD"), is responsible for establishing what medical treatment EMTs and paramedics can perform. RCW 18.71.200, RCW 18.73.030 (12), and WAC 246-976-010 (46). None of these medical procedures are listed in statutes. The only authorized medical procedures for paramedics and EMTs are listed in WAC 246-976-182.

Under WAC 246-976-182, Emergency Medical Services personnel are only authorized to provide patient care which is within:

- approved guidelines/curriculum for the individual's level of certification or included in approved specialized training; AND
- State-approved county MPD protocols. WAC 246-976-182 (1) (c).

This directive is repeated at WAC 246-976-182(3). "All prehospital providers must follow state approved triage procedures, regional patient care procedures, and county MPD patient care protocols." *Id*.

"If protocols and regional patient care procedures do not provide offline direction for [a] situation, the certified person in charge of the patient must consult with their online medical control as soon as possible." WAC 246-976-182 (2). In that situation, "[t]he ... directions for medical control are provided by the MPD or MPD delegate." WAC 246-976-010(44). (The MPD delegate is referred to by the EMTs and paramedics in their depositions as their "base-station physician" and that term shall be used below).

The EMTs and paramedics should have consulted with their online medical control, i.e., base-station physician, because, according to the EMTs and paramedics themselves, there are no direction in the Protocols for what to do when a patient has unresolved potential stroke symptoms, like numbness in the face, high blood pressure, facial droop, and a self-diagnosis of stroke, but all of the paramedics and EMTs knew that strokes presented a risk of paralysis, brain damage, or death and that they were beyond their field of medical expertise in determining Ms. Samuels' actual condition. CP 147, 167, 169, and 171-72. Therefore, they should have contacted their base-station physician because "[i]f protocols and regional patient care procedures do not provide off-line direction for [a medical] situation, the certified person in charge of the patient must consult with their online medical control as soon as possible." WAC 246-976-010 (47).

The above failures were violations of the Protocols, as was the paramedics' and EMTs' communication of their diagnosis that "you're not having a stroke," CP 731, and the skipping of the first step required by

Appendices D-1 and D-2 to the Protocols, i.e., getting a "[r]eport from patient or bystander of one or more sudden: numbness or weakness of the face, arm, or leg, especially on one side of the body, confusion, trouble speaking or understanding, trouble seeing in one or both eyes, trouble walking, dizziness, loss of balance or coordination, [or] severe headache with no known cause." CP 542.

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