FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/13/2019 12:10 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97830-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LESA SAMUELS,

Petitioner,

v.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, GLORIA LEM, and CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

CITY OF TACOMA'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Monica L. Cadagan, WSBA #48781 Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Attorneys for Respondents FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing acceptance of review and provides that a petition for review will be accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the

Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Although Ms. Samuels does not cite RAP 13.4(b), her arguments for why review should be accepted appear to implicate RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals so as to Warrant Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Ms. Samuels argues, *Pet. at 15-17*, that the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Brainerd v. Stearns*, 155 Wash. 364, 284 P.348 (1930), *Nist v. Tudor*, 67 Wn.2d 322, 407 P.2d 798 (1965), and *Harper v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 328, 429 P.3d 1071 (2018), and the Court of Appeals' decision in *Kelley v. State*, 104 Wn. App. 328, 17 P.3d 1189 (2000). It does not.

Basically, Ms. Samuels claims that, because *Brainerd*, *Nist*, and *Harper* indicate that gross negligence is typically a question of fact, because *Kelley* considered violations of policy directives in determining whether there was sufficient evidence of gross negligence, and because she believes there was evidence that the first responders did not strictly comply with the Protocols, summary judgment was improper in this case. She ignores, however, that courts may determine the issue of gross negligence as a matter of law if reasonable minds could not differ, as this Court did in *Harper* and

as the Court of Appeals did in *Kelley* notwithstanding the violations of policy directives that occurred in that case. Ms. Samuels does not claim that the Court of Appeals made any new pronouncement of law, nor does she cite to any portion of the Court of Appeals' opinion that purportedly conflicts with established law. Because the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals, but rather tracks this Court's most recent decision in *Harper*, *see* Slip Op. at 10-15, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

It is well established that "[t]o survive summary judgment in a gross negligence case, a plaintiff must provide substantial evidence of serious negligence." *Harper*, 192 Wn.2d at 345 (quoting *Nist*. 67 Wn.2d at 332). To prove gross negligence there must be a showing that the first responders "substantially breached [their] duty by failing to act with even slight care." *Id.* at 341 (citing *Nist*, 67 Wn.2d at 331). And, "[a]lthough breach is generally a question left for the trier of fact, the court may determine the issue as a matter of law 'if reasonable minds could not differ.'" *Id.* (quoting *Hertog v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 275, 929 P.2d 400 (1999)). These were the standards the Court of Appeals correctly applied in this case in affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment to the City. *See* Slip Op. at 10-15.

Nonetheless, Ms. Samuels asserts that, even though the correct law was applied, the Court of Appeals erred in finding no genuine issue of material fact as to gross negligence, citing her experts' unsupported claims that the first responders failed to take a medical history, and her claims that the first responders should have called the Medical Program Director (*i.e.*, base station physician) and that one of the first responders improperly made a diagnosis when he told her she was not having a stroke. But, because those claims are either not supported by evidence, not supported by the law, or are insufficient to establish substantial evidence of serious negligence, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion – there was no gross negligence. That Ms. Samuels disagrees with the Court of Appeals' conclusion in that regard does not render its decision in conflict with any of the cases she has cited in her petition or provide a ground for acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b).

A medical history was taken. As a preliminary matter, Ms. Samuels' experts' "opinions" regarding whether a medical history was taken are inadmissible. The experts do not have firsthand knowledge of the facts in this case and cannot offer lay witness testimony about the events that occurred. ER 602, 702, 703. Moreover, the experts cannot base their opinions on facts contrary to those in the record. "Affidavits containing conclusory statements without adequate factual support are insufficient to defeat summary

judgment." *Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 25, 851 P.2d 689 (1993). "The expert's opinion must be based on fact and cannot simply be a conclusion or based on an assumption if it is to survive summary judgment." *Volk v. DeMeerler*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 277, 386 P.3d 254 (2016).

Here, the admissible evidence – deposition testimony and the run sheet, CP 64, 49 (91:6-8), 51-52 (101:15 - 102:16) – confirm that the first responders (1) took a medical history; (2) took actions to evaluate each aspect of the F.A.S.T. examination; (3) determined that there were no positive stroke symptoms; and (4) knew Ms. Samuels' facial numbness began about an hour prior to the 911 call. Ms. Samuels' experts' post-hoc claim that a medical history including the time of onset was not taken is contrary to the facts in the record and is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact as to gross negligence. As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, "[v]iewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Ms. Samuels, reasonable minds could not differ on whether the first responders exercised at least slight care." Slip Op. at 12.

The Medical Program Director did not need to be contacted. Ms. Samuels also claims that the Protocols did not sufficiently cover the first responders' contact with her, requiring them, under DOH regulations, to contact the medical program director (MPD), because she was experiencing facial numbness and had an elevated blood pressure. She is incorrect.

Under WAC 246-976-182, "certified EMS personnel are only authorized to provide patient care ... [w]ithin the scope of care that is ... included in state approved county MPD protocols." WAC 246-976-182(1)(c)(iii) (emphasis added). If the Protocols do not provide direction for a situation, then the first responders need to contact their online medical control and receive instruction from the MPD or its delegate. WAC 246-976-182(2); WAC 246-976-010(44) and (46). Such contact is only required when the protocols do not advise how to treat a patient in a given situation. WAC 246-976-182. Here, Ms. Samuels' presentation was not outside the scope of the Protocols, and the Protocols were adequate to address the care she needed. There was no need to call the MPD.

Nonetheless, Ms. Samuels argues that, because she had "unresolved facial numbness" and high blood pressure, the first responders should not have ended their contact with her. This argument is contrary to the Protocols, which provided direction for both situations. CP 69, 71. The Protocols contemplated that an individual may experience facial numbness and yet still not require emergent transport for a stroke. CP 69. In fact, facial numbness was merely a symptom that indicated a F.A.S.T. exam should be performed. CP 69. It was not a symptom that triggered ALS transport. CP 69, 71. Moreover, the Protocols provided that a blood pressure higher than 180/120 should result in ALS transport. CP 71. But,

Ms. Samuels' blood pressure was 176/98, CP 64, lower than the blood pressure requiring ALS transport. She did not exhibit any signs that qualified her for ALS transport. *Compare* CP 64 *with* CP 69, 71.

As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, Slip Op. at 14:

Under WAC 146-976-182, first responders are required to contact the medical program director only when the protocols did not provide appropriate direction for the circumstance. Here, the protocols governed the first responders' interaction with Samuels and they acted within those protocols by performing the FAST examination."

The first responders are required to assess the presence or absence of symptoms in order to triage patients. Finally, Ms. Samuels' characterization of a first responder's alleged comment that she was not having a stroke as a diagnosis is incorrect. Although first responders are not physicians and are not trained to diagnosis patients, they are trained to triage patients, including looking for symptoms of stroke. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Ms. Samuels claim that the first responders gave her a medical diagnosis when one of them allegedly told her "you're not having a stroke," reasoning, Slip Op. at 15:

The first responders are required, as part of their job and within the scope of their practice, to assess and communicate to the patient at the time. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Samuels, even if this statement was made to her by a first responder, Samuels fails to present "substantial evidence of serious negligence." In sum, reasonable minds could not differ on whether the first responders acted with gross negligence and the City is

entitled to qualified immunity as a matter of law.

Ultimately, "[i]n determining whether the plaintiff has provided substantial evidence, the court must look at all the evidence before it, evidence that includes both what the defendant failed to do and what the defendant did." *Harper*, 192 Wn.2d at 345. Here, it is undisputed that the first responders promptly responded to Ms. Samuels' 9-1-1 call. CP 60-62, 64. They took her medical history and learned that she was experiencing facial numbness. CP 64, 48 (88:1-8), 49 (91:16 – 93:23). They examined her, took her vital signs, and performed a F.A.S.T. exam. CP 64, 71. They looked at her face and noted "grimace equal." CP 64. They performed a resistance test and found her grip equal, and her palm lift equal and steady. CP 64, 50 (94:2-25). They spoke with her and assessed the normalcy of her speech. See e.g. CP 50 (97:2-90). And, although not required because the remainder of the F.A.S.T. exam was negative, they noted that the onset of symptoms was "about an hour prior to the 911 call." CP 64. Considering the totality of the actions the first responders took to determine whether or not Ms. Samuels qualified for ALS transport, there is not substantial evidence of serious negligence. s. Samuels has not established that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals. Thus, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

B. Ms. Samuels' Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should be Determined by this Court so as to Warrant Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Ms. Samuels suggests, *Pet. at 17-20*, that review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) based on her subjective belief that first responders should be required to strictly comply with the Protocols in order to avail themselves or the City of the immunity afforded by RCW 18.71.210. She argues, as she did below, that first responders only have authority to act within the defined scope of the Protocols, and that, as a prerequisite to the determination of qualified immunity under RCW 18.71.210, they cannot act outside of the protocols. According to Ms. Samuels, any act outside of the protocols is "not within the field of medical expertise of the ... emergency medical technician and paramedic" as required by RCW 18.71.210, and renders the statute's immunity provision inapplicable.

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, *Slip Op. at 8-11*, Ms. Samuels' interpretation of the statute is patently wrong. Even if she had factual support for her claim that the first responders did not follow the Protocols (which she does not), her interpretation of the statute would lead to absurd results. "Stripping" immunity and permitting liability based on any trivial act or omission not strictly in compliance with the Protocols (even if the act was taken in good faith and in the course of duty), would abrogate the legislature's clear intent that first responders should be able to

act free from the unduly inhibiting fear of liability. *See Marthaller v. King County Hosp. Dist. No.* 2, 94 Wn. App. 911, 916, 973 P.2d 1098 (1999).

Contrary to Ms. Samuels' contentions, the plain language of RCW 18.71.210 (1) indicates that its qualified immunity applies even absent strict adherence to the Protocols. "No act or omission of any [first responder] done or omitted in good faith while rendering emergency medical service ... shall impose any liability." RCW 18.71.210 (1). This language is broad; it does not include a precondition of strict adherence to the Protocols before first responders or their employing city may qualify for immunity.

In enacting RCW 18.71.210, the legislature implicitly recognized that first responders must act in emergencies, and must make quick decisions in real time. Accordingly, the legislature determined that suits against first responders and their employing agencies should be limited to those involving acts or omissions rising to the level of gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct. Ms. Samuels' argument to the contrary – that first responders are required to abide perfectly by the protocols, otherwise a simple negligence standard will apply – contravenes the plain meaning and purpose of RCW 18.71.210.

Ms. Samuels' questioning of the wisdom of the legislature in enacting RCW 18.71.210's qualified immunity provision does not raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court

so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VI. CONCLUSION

Because Ms. Samuels has not established the applicability of any of the RAP 13.4(b) considerations governing acceptance of review, her petition for review should be denied.